1949

# State of Utah v. Robert S. Harries : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A Grand Jury of Salt Lake County, Utah, on June 26, 1948, returned an indictment against the defendant, Robert S. Harries, charging bribery as follows, to-wit:

“That the said Robert S. Harries, on or about the 1st day of December, 1946, at the County of Salt Lake, State of Utah, he being then and there an executive officer and a person appointed to an executive office, to-wit: The Chief of the Enforcement Division of the Utah Liquor Control Commission, received a bribe, to-wit: Money, from Cyrus Lack upon an agreement or understanding that his action upon a matter which might be brought before him in his official capacity would be influenced thereby, to-wit: Upon an agreement and understanding that he, the said Robert S. Harries, would permit and allow

Robert Ossana to maintain a building and rooms where alcoholic beverages were to be sold, kept, bartered and stored in violation of the Liquor Control Act, and where persons would resort for the drinking of alcoholic beverages; \*\*\*\*\*”

The defendant entered his plea of ‘not guilty.’ (Tr. 6)

The case came on for trial before the Hon. Ray Van Cott, Jr., one of the judges of the District Court of Salt Lake County, with a jury, on September 13, 1948.

At the time set and before trial commenced, the defendant, by his attorney, made and presented to the court his motion, reading as follows:

“1. For an order of this court to the clerk of this court for leave to defendant, by his attorney herein, to inspect and make copy of the stenographic transcript of the testimony of the witnesses appearing before the Grand Jury and whose names appear on the indictment herein.

2. That the trial of this cause be continued and postponed until after such inspection and examination by defendant’s attorney, and until time sufficient for defendant’s said attorney to properly prepare for the defendant’s defense herein.

3. That the trial of this cause be continued and postponed until after the general election next ensuing.”

The motion was supported by affidavit. (Tr. 13).

The motion was denied. (Tr. 66).

The jury having been selected and sworn, the District Attorney made a lengthy opening statement. (Tr. 66-98).

The case grew out of the doings of one Cyrus V.

Lack, and the mixture of liquor under the state monopoly system of disposal and the ideology of prohibition in matters of enforcement, and the machinations of politics.

The person of Cyrus V. Lack and the strange regime he manipulated at the Brigham Street Pharmacy, would call for the talents of a Dickens for portrayal. Appointed to a package agency of the Utah Liquor Control Commission on Brigham Street, in alignment with temples, tabernacles, cathedrals, governors' mansions and places of the great, this gnome, whose philogomy, as reflected in the tabloid reproductions of the persons of the trial, carried a striking reminder of the face of a porcupine encountered in the woods, and his tireless and constant nosing-in and doing-for suggested the appellation of a busy beaver. That such a one could, even under the vapors of liquor and in the smokerooms of politics, have entangled himself in the affairs of so many decent people, and gained credence to his pretensions, as sworn to by him at this trial, is beyond imagination.

The business of selling liquor at his agency soon grew from the bottle at a time tempo to truck load lots, and from purveying to the elite neighborhood to a statewide distribution. The trial did not tip the lid of all this very wide.

The Grand Jury which returned this indictment against Harries came into being from the explosions which were caused by the announcement one morning that the Brigham Street Pharmacy had been burglarized of three hundred cases of liquor. Lack was charged with embezzlement by complaint. The Grand Jury indicted him on the same charge and the prosecution was taken over. He was not indicted and has not been charged with any of the other crimes which he revealed in his testimony in this trial. He had not come to trial

on the indictment of embezzlement and he was not indicted in the conspiracy charge which was returned against Harries and Leonard.

The theory of the state's case on this trial was made through twenty witnesses. It was clearly revealed by the opening statement of the District Attorney that the scheme of the state was to present a mass of transactions between Lack and various clubs whose members seemingly enjoyed the conviviality of the select in the cocktail lounge or at the bar.

The first direct examination of the witness Lack covers seventy pages of transcript. (Tr. 121-191.) He was introduced to the defendant by a Mr. McGean. Everyone at the trial, except counsel for the defendant seemed to know what that signified, as he was not further identified. And shortly after this meeting in the early part of 1946, Mr. Harries budded a candidacy for sheriff of Salt Lake County, and Mr. Lack and Mr. McGean and some others of the capitol crowd seemed to take an interest in the matter, and some get-togethers were had, and some political money raised, and a primary campaign was conducted. The candidate did not receive the nomination, but there were some money transactions growing out of these political doings between Lack and Harries, and after the primary was over they went up to West Yellowstone and played the games and lost, and Harries borrowed some money from Lack to keep up his end.

During this time liquor was rationed, but seemingly not to Lack and his customers. He had a scheme. It is inconceivable that it was his own. He could not have carried it out without the knowledge and acquiescence of the Liquor Control Commission and its distributing department, and without them knowing about it. He apparently let it be known that if these clubs would come to him, he would sell them liquor in wholesale



lots at the retail price prescribed by the Liquor CoCn-trol Commission and would take a premium to himself. He engaged in a good deal of double talk in discussing it with these people who came to him, but the testimony does reflect that with some of them he pretended to sell protection from prosecution, except an occasional mild knockover, and he pretended to sell Harries in this scheme.

He testified that this was an arranged matter between him and the defendant.

At the close of the State's case in chief the trial was continued over the weekend. On reconvening the attorney for the defendant made his opening statement to the jury, and said:

“Since we adjourned on last Friday afternoon we have had an opportunity to relax, each one to return to his place of residence and to get a breath of fresh air. I did also. I went up into my canyon retreat in the canyon and to my little farm. I walked across it and then walked over into the corner where there is a large pile of barnyard refuse, and I looked at it, and I thought what a task to shovel it all away and scatter it on the ground.

“The defendant in this case, and I as his counsel, have one task and that is to shovel away the pile of barnyard refuse that has been heaped upon him, and his testimony and that of his witnesses will be directed to that purpose and that purpose only, and to reveal at the bottom of that pile a human soul at the core of which is integrity, honesty and truthfulness, and who is not guilty of taking a bribe, and I shall in throwing that refuse off try not to let it fall upon anyone except that one who piled it upon us, Cy Lack.” (Tr. 616-617.)

It is repeated here as a concise summary and characterization of the State's case and that which was



made by the testimony of the defendant and his witnesses.

In the course of his opening statement, (Tr. 75), the District Attorney mentioned a Mr. Stan Kershaw, who was a trustee of the Elks' Club at Ogden, and who, according to the District Attorney, learned of Mr. Lack's activities and so came down to Salt Lake City to make arrangements with him for the purpose of obtaining liquor. At that point counsel for the defendant asked the District Attorney if he intended to call Mr. Kershaw, and the District Attorney stated, "No, he is dead," and that the evidence he had stated would come through a conversation Kershaw had had with Lack, and counsel for the defendant remarked that this would be incompetent on its face, to which the District Attorney replied, "Not at all. The theory of this case, Your Honor, is that Mr. Lack and Mr. Harries were conspirators and the acts and declarations of each in furtherance of the conspiracy is admissible." (Tr. 75.)

The District Attorney then further informed the court that a great deal of the evidence would be these conversations of Lack with diverse other persons, and with respect of transactions not stated or charged in the indictment, and counsel for the defendant asked the court to limit the District Attorney in his opening statement and objected to the statement of intention to prove manifestly incompetent matters, which the court overruled, (Tr. 77-78), and the District Attorney proceeded to outline in great detail the course his proof would take and which would follow the promise suggested that he would try the case as though it were a conspiracy case, and the court, throughout the trial, permitted this course of testimony.

Among the witnesses called by the State were Lee A. Williams, of Price, Utah, who operated a so-called Country Club thereat, and his testimony wholly related

to transactions had between him and Cyrus V. Lack and the purchase by Williams of liquor from Lack from the Brigham Street Pharmacy. The witness did not testify to any transaction or conversation whatsoever with the defendant Harries.

Parker L. Campbell of Salt Lake City, was secretary of the Elks' Lodge there. He was called and gave testimony concerning conversations between him and Lack out of the presence of Harries, and transactions concerning the purchase of liquor by the Elks' Club from Lack. He had known Mr. Harries by sight, but did not meet him personally until sometime in July of 1947, about eight months after the time charged in the indictment; and since that Mr. Campbell made a deal with Mr. Lack, after rationing went off, to continue to pay Mr. Lack \$100.00 per month for protection money for the Elks' Club. This price was continued, according to Campbell, for about four months, and Campbell took the money in an envelope to the pharmacy run by Lack and gave it to him, or left it with his clerk or attendant thereat. On the occasion of his meeting Mr. Harries in July, 1947, Mr. Harries jumped down his neck for the way he was operating the Elks' Club, and the Elks' Club was knocked over in October or November of 1947, and Harries jumped down his neck again for the way that they were running the place. He then met Harries again at the Brigham Street pharmacy on a Sunday morning. Mr. Lack and Henry McGean and several others were there, and Mr. Lawrence Johnson of the Liquor Commission came in. Mr. Lack there said Mr. Harries had double-crossed him and called Mr. Harries a number of names, and that the lid had been blown off. (Tr. 533-534.) And on cross examination Mr. Campbell testified (Tr. 538), that he went to Harries and told him he had found out he had double-crossed the Elks' Lodge, and Mr. Harries then and there told him he had had anything to do with it, and he was very

indignant about the charge laid against him by Mr. Campbell; and that Mr. Harries told him “when he found out Campbell had been paying protection money to Lack that he had had the Elks’ Club knocked over and Campbell was squealing about it, and Campbell was angry about it”; and Harries reminded him that the Liquor Commission had authorized the locker system at the Club and that the Club, through Campbell, had been fudging and thought they were buying protection, and Campbell gave this testimony: Q: “And then you thought you could get a little extra protection when this man Lack fooled you completely by this talk and fell for it?” A: “That is right.” (Tr. 539.)

Arnold L. Huber of Salt Lake City, a witness for the State, who is manager of the Fort Douglas Golf Club, was permitted to tell about buying whiskey from Lack and conversations had with Lack about it, and this was in May, 1946; and asked about the prices he said he couldn’t tell you. He wasn’t interested particularly; it was just the item of getting the liquor; and he produced a number of checks, Exhibits “O,” “K” “J” and “I,” which he said were purchases of liquor from Lack. (Tr. 543-547.) In his direct examination the name of Harries was not mentioned.

Carl W. Sandstrom of Ogden, secretary of the Ogden Elks’ Club (Tr. 549) became acquainted with Cyrus Lack, he testified, at the Brigham Street Pharmacy through an introduction by S. E. Kershaw, who, it appears, had died before the date of trial, but who, at the time of the introduction in July of 1946, was Exalted Ruler of the Ogden Lodge of Elks, and he thought everything was all right and on a legal basis; and it had been arranged between Kershaw and Lack that he should buy liquor for the Elks’ Club through Lack and pay a bonus of \$15.00 per case, and he related various purchases and produced checks and vouchers for the

payment for whiskey purchased from Lack; and it rather shocked us all that the pre-Christmas 1946 purchase was for a hundred cases at a cost of \$5997.68, Exhibit "B," and this lasted until beyond March, 1947, when the lodge was knocked over for fudging on the locker system and paid \$100.00 fine, and the sins of Ogden were magnified before the jury, but the name of Harries was not mentioned by the witness Sandstrom.

Kenneth E. Bullock of Provo, who was a trustee of the Elks' Club there, testified (Tr. 574) that he met Lack and purchased some whiskey from him for the Elks' Club in Provo, and some of them ran into near shocking size, three-thousand odd dollars at a time for the brothers of Provo. This is an interesting bit of direct examination of this State's witness, speaking of the first check for whiskey (Tr. 576), and before he gave him (Lack) the check, he told him that this was not "my money" and wanted to know that if I gave it to him if everything would be all right. Q: "Can you elaborate on any conversation about everything being all right? What did you sayin that regard?" A: "He says, 'If you don't feel good about it, do you know Mr. Harries?' I said, 'Yes.' He said, 'Would you like to talk to him?' and I said, 'Well, I don't suppose that is necessary if you are sure everything is going to be all right and our club is not going to get in any mix-up on this, I think it will be okeh'." Q: "Did he offer to call Mr. Harries?" A: "Yes." Q: "Did he call Mr. Harries?" A: "No." O: "Did you request him not to?" A: "No, I just said, 'I guess everything will be all right.'" (Tr. 577.) And on cross-examination the witness testified that there had usually been liquor at the club, but that when they couldn't get it there hadn't been any, and they made this arrangement with Lack because rationing was on and the boys said to get some if it could be bought. (Tr. 580.) And that is how it came about. All the business was done with Mr. Lack and his agents, and all he had



to do was deliver the money when they made out the order. (Tr. 581.)

Robert S. Harries, the defendant, was fifty-four years of age at the time of the trial. He was born at Salt Lake City, Utah, and had lived there all of his life. He was a married man with a family and grandchildren. In his early youth, he worked on a farm on the east bench and for the railroad in a machine shop. His father was the former Sheriff of Salt Lake County, and he worked for a time as a deputy, and for about four years was a guard at Utah State Prison where he became Captain of the Guards. In 1941 he was appointed to the position of Chief Enforcement Officer of the Utah State Liquor Control Commission, which he occupied continuously until the return of the indictment herein on June 27, 1948.

The first witness called by the state at the trial, was Henry C. Lunt, a lawyer, and former Assistant United States District Attorney, and one of the three commissioners of the Utah Liquor Control Commission, the Republican, or off party member of that by-partisan unit, and he produced the oath of office of the defendant in which he swore to discharge the duties of the office with fidelity, and Mr. Lunt, after describing in a legalistic sort of way those duties, on cross examination, stated that in his belief Robert S. Harries performed the duties of that office with fidelity. (Tr. 108-109). It was also disclosed to the jury by the testimony of Mr. Lunt that the Attorney General of the State had rendered an opinion upon the Liquor Control Act to the Utah Liquor Control Commission to the effect that it was not unlawful for a permitted person who had lawfully purchased liquor from the Utah Liquor Control Commission, to take it, I assume by lawful means, if there be any, to a private club, "an old line club," as it was called, like the Elks, the Legion, the Moose, the Eagles, and maybe the Labor Temple, the Alta, the Country Club, etc., etc.,

and there, if he could not consume the whole bottle at a single session of solitary imbibing, he might put it in a locker and hie him thither at a later date to finish it.

(This writer is incorrectly quoted in the transcript of this case as having in effect agreed with Mr. Lunt, and the Commission, and the Attorney General, in that interpretation of the law.) (Tr. 111.) This argument is pertinent to an understanding of this case.

Everything that any witness testified to concerning the conduct of this defendant, except only the witness Lack, was and is within the cloak of the tolerance prescribed by the Utah Liquor Control Commission, and was under the immediate supervision and direction of Mr. Lunt, in charge of enforcement. Mr. Lunt was asked this question: Q: "And that was, (the opinion of the Attorney General) in substance, that it was not unlawful for a person to buy liquor from the State Store, and then put it in a locker, individually controlled by him, by a key, in a private club, and then take it out of that locker and put it upon a bar in that place and have the attendant, the bartender, pour in the mixer, and furnish the water and service the drinking, even though a great number of persons of similar privilege met there for the purpose of consuming liquor at that place?" To which he answered: A: "It wouldn't go that far." And the question was: "What detail of that is excessive?" And the answer: "That a member of a club could take it into the club and could consume his own liquor in the club, and could treat his friends in the club, the same as you do in your own home." And to this I, as attorney for the defendant said: "Sir, I *cannot* lawfully treat my friends in my home under the liquor law of the State of Utah, as I have read it, and I have read it many times, and I *cannot* lawfully give another a drink out of my bottle," but I am quoted in the transcript as saying: "I can lawfully treat—I can lawfully give."

And that commission laid down the policy and di-

rected its application with respect to clubs of not bothering them for operating liquor bars under the locker system, and the degree of tolerance related to the provision of the law that it makes it unlawful for a person or company, or anyone else, to maintain a place where persons resort for the purpose of drinking liquor, or consuming liquor. (Tr. 115.) And he was asked this question and gave this answer: Q. "So, upon that provision you shut your eyes and established a policy of tolerance?" A. "I don't know as we shut our eyes, but we figured as a practical proposition that it was a good thing, because then the club itself would have no excuse to handle liquor itself." (Tr. 115)

He further amplified the policy on questioning by the District Attorney to the effect that the clubs definitely understood that they could not sell or resell liquor. (Tr. 116.) This policy, he said, was at first limited to the old line clubs which had already been established, and then he said: "Then we had a number of private chartered clubs mushrooming, getting charters from the Secretary of State, and we met with the Secretary of State and had an understanding that hereafter any of these non-profit clubs applying for a charter, they would notify our office and we would make an investigation."

It was further disclosed by Mr. Lunt that this locker system restricted to members made it practically impossible to get a case of violation in the event a club fudged on the tolerance, because the enforcement officers would have to plan on getting a member to snitch on his own fraternity, or plant a phony membership to get a violation, and that at times special agents were employed who were members of various clubs, to go in and detect violations which would result in raids and a number of them were closed, but whenever the enforcement department had any evidence of sale by the club, whether by undercover agents or personally observed by inspectors, they were prosecuted and whenever there was any liquor

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