1949

# State of Utah v. Robert S. Harries : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

liciting or receiving of a bribe are two distinct crimes defined and made punishable by separate sections of the statute. These sections, so far as here material, are as follows:

“ ‘Every person who \* \* \* shall give, offer or promise, directly or indirectly, any compensation, gratuity or reward to a person executing any of the functions of a public officer other than as hereinbefore specified, with intent to influence him with respect to any act, decision, vote or other proceeding in the exercise of his powers or functions, shall be punished by imprisonment in the state penitentiary for not more than ten years, or by a fine of not more than five thousand dollars, or by both.’ Section 2320, Rem. & Bal. Code.

“ ‘Every executive or administrative officer or person elected or appointed to an executive or administrative office who shall ask or receive, directly or indirectly, any compensation, gratuity or reward, or any promise thereof, upon an agreement or understanding that his vote, opinion or action upon any matter then pending, or which may by law be brought before him in his official capacity, shall be influenced thereby; \* \* \* shall be punished by imprisonment in the state penitentiary for not more than ten years, or by a fine of not more than five thousand dollars, or by both.’ Section 2321, Rem. & Bal. Code.

“The prosecution was based upon the latter of these sections, and it is plain that neither Tupper nor Gerald could have been indicted under that section or for the crimes therein defined either as principal or accessory. This is obvious since the section applies

only to public officers, and the statute itself in the prior section has declared the acts of which Tupper and Gerald were guilty to constitute a separate and distinct crime. The true test to determine whether a witness is an accomplice or not is: Could the witness himself have been indicted either as principal or accessory for the crime charged and under investigation? If he could not, he is not an accomplice. Manifestly, under that test Tupper and Gerald were not accomplices; neither had received a bribe, neither was a public officer. \* \* \*

Section 103-26-3, Utah Code Annotated 1943, provides:

“Every person who gives or offers any bribe to any executive officer, or to any peace officer or to any person authorized to enforce the law in this state, with intent to influence him in respect to any act, decision, vote, opinion or other proceedings as such officer, or person authorized to enforce the law, is guilty of a felony.”

The defendant in this case was indicted under the provision of 103-26-4, Utah Code Annotated 1943, which provides:

“Every executive officer, or person elected or appointed to an executive office, who asks, receives or agrees to receive any bribe, upon any agreement or understanding that his vote, opinion or action upon any matter then pending, or which may be brought before him in his official capacity, shall be influenced thereby is guilty of felony.”

These statutes are substantially the same as the statutes

in the Wappenstein case and under the rule of that case the witnesses whose testimony is objected to were not accomplices of the defendant. It is apparent, therefore, that the witnesses referred to are conspirators with the defendant Harries, in liquor law violation, and their testimony is admissible against the defendant who is a co-conspirator. However, they are not accomplices with the defendant in the crime of bribery and, therefore, their testimony does not need corroboration. Thus, it is clear that the objections raised by the appellant as to the admission of statements between Lack and others, and Ossana and others, are without merit.

At the bottom of page 31 of appellant's brief, appellant lists twelve Utah cases without reference to the propositions for which they stand. Upon reading these cases, we find that they all lay down the rule that a conviction cannot be had on the testimony of an accomplice unless it is corroborated by other evidence which, in itself, tends to connect the defendant with the commission of the offense charged. These cases go on to state the rule that corroboration is not sufficient if it merely shows commission of an offense or the circumstances thereof and that while the corroborator's evidence need not be sufficient of itself to support a conviction and need not corroborate an accomplice's testimony on every material point, it must in and of itself tend to connect the defendant with the commission of the offense and must be inconsistent with the defendant's innocence, and it is not enough that it cast a mere suspicion only upon him. We are in complete agreement with the law as stated by these cases. It is apparent that the trial court also so understood the law as evidenced by Instruction



No. 5, which states in part :

“And you are instructed that under the law a conviction cannot be had on the testimony of an accomplice, unless he is corroborated by other evidence, which in itself and without the aid of the accomplice tends to connect the defendant with the commission of the offense, and if you find that the crime of bribery has been committed, as charged in the indictment, \* \* \* and if in your determination of the facts from a consideration of all the evidence in the case you find Robert Harries is proved guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, and in reaching this determination you base your findings of guilt upon any evidence of a material fact from the testimony of either of these accomplices, you must then find from other evidence, independent of the testimony of Lack or Ossana, evidence which tends to connect the defendant with the commission of the offense, as in the fore part of this instruction set forth; otherwise you must acquit~~int~~ him. Such corroboration is not sufficient if it merely shows the circumstances of the offense or the commission of the offense charged, or merely tends to cast a grave suspicion on the accused or is consistent with his innocence.

“On the other hand the corroborating evidence need not be sufficient of itself to establish the guilt of the defendant, nor is it essential that the testimony of the accomplice be corroborated on every material point, but it must, tend to implicate him in, and connect him with, the commission of the offense charged.”

The trial court proceeded upon the theory that Lack and Ossana were accomplices as a matter of law if the defendant, Harries, were found to be guilty of the crime charged. Under the Wappenstein case, *supra*, it is apparent that even Lack and Ossana would fall within the same classification as the other witnesses to whom appellant objects and their testimony would not need corroboration. However, if the trial court were in error in instructing the jury that Lack and Ossana were accomplices, whose testimony required corroboration, this error was manifestly in favor of the defendant inasmuch as the court required corroboration, where under the Wappenstein ruling, it was not necessary. It is clear, however, that even under the trial court's interpretation that Lack and Ossana were accomplices, their testimony is most fully corroborated by the testimony of Myers, Nikas, the Hatsis Brothers, Bullock, Young and other witnesses.

Assignment of error No. 4 covers the entire opening statement of the District Attorney (Tr. 65-98). The objections made to the opening statement by counsel for appellant during the trial were to those items treated above, i.e. conversations between Lack and Ossana and others.

The opening statement is not evidence. *State vs. Distefano*, 70 Utah 586, 262 Pac. 113. Its purpose is merely to outline the evidence.

In the case of *State vs. Erwin*, 101 Utah 365, 120 Pac. (2d) 285, this court stated:

“The purpose of an opening statement is to advise the jury of the facts relied upon and of the questions and issues involved, which the jury will have to de-

termine, and to give them a general picture of the facts and the situations, so that they will be able to understand the evidence. Counsel should outline generally what he intends to prove, and should be allowed considerable latitude. He should make a fair statement of the evidence, and the extent to which he may go is largely in the discretion of the trial court.”

It will be readily seen that the district attorney made no statement that does not fall within the spirit and the letter of this rule. Surely if the matters complained of were properly admitted in evidence, there was no error in outlining them in the opening statement.

Appellant’s assignments of error 32, 33 and 34 have to do with the court’s rulings in sustaining the objection of the State to questions put to the witness, Lunt, on cross examination regarding what “digging in” was done. This matter of “digging in” arose from an anonymous letter sent from Helper, Utah, to Mr. Lunt, charging that the Enforcement Division was playing favorites among alleged liquor law violators and charging a certain “Harold L.” with accepting pay-offs and turning a large portion thereof over to the head of the Enforcement Division of the Liquor Commission. The State introduced this letter into evidence and Mr. Lunt testified on direct examination that he had a conversation with Mr. Harries about the letter and that he told Mr. Harries:

“There are certain charges there that I think should be looked into and I want you to dig into this matter.” (Tr. 584)

On cross examination appellant’s counsel attempted to

bring out, through witness Lunt, statements that were made by the defendant Harries. This was objected to as hearsay and improper examination. The objection was sustained and the appellant assigns the rulings sustaining objections to this line of testimony as error. It seems apparent from the court's statements at the time the rulings were made that the court was unusually liberal in allowing the appellant's counsel to go as far as he did in cross examination of this witness. On page 594 of the transcript, the court stated:

“THE COURT: You are at liberty to have Mr. Lunt testify as to things he did and things that Mr. Harries probably did while they were, (in Price) in reference to this digging in as a matter of cross-examination, but I believe it is improper to permit Mr. Lunt to testify here as to what Mr. Harries told him. It would be hearsay and there is no opportunity of the State to cross-examine the veracity or the accuracy of the testimony given by somebody who is not subject to cross-examination.”

On page 597, the court stated:

“THE COURT: I think you have the right, Mr. Woolley, to determine from Mr. Lunt what Mr. Harries and he did as to digging into this, but the conversation that they had with other men, I don't believe is proper for Mr. Lunt to reiterate here for the same reason as I indicated.

“In other words, he is testifying for somebody else who it not appearing and may never appear. The objection is sustained.”

The appellant cites as error the court's sustaining of

the objection of the State to the question put to the witness, Lunt, on cross-examination:

“Q. And what occurred?”

The witness answered in the following manner:

“Mr. Harries stated to the commission—”

It is obvious, therefore, that the witness, Lunt, was not attempting to testify as to what occurred but rather as to what the defendant, Harries, had said on that occasion and the objection to this answer falls within the rulings of the court above mentioned. On page 600 of the transcript, the court again sustained the State’s objection to this line of testimony and very ably set out the grounds on which such objections were sustained as follows:

“THE COURT: The objection is sustained. I think, Mr. Woolley, after all the cross-examination of Mr. Lunt is on the proposition of whether or not he told Mr. Harries to dig in. It is not particularly how far they dug in or how far Mr. Harries even dug in, as far as this witness is concerned. You have the right to test his veracity and his credibility and to contradict or modify his testimony as to what he has testified on direct, and that to the effect that he told Mr. Harries, ‘you look into this matter.’ Now, I have let you go an awful long ways on that phase of the matter.”

We submit that the court did, in fact, let Mr. Woolley go a long way on this matter.

Appellant’s assignment of error No. 35 relates to the objection of the State to a question put to the defendant

on direct examination as to the nature of testimony of one, Steve Nikas and his wife in a trial concerning the Diamanti knock-over at Price, Utah. The questions were as follows: (Tr. 714)

“Q. I don’t think I asked you about the testimony at the Diamanti trial in Price. State whether or not one of the Nikas boys was a witness in favor of the State or the Utah Liquor Control Commission in that proceeding?

A. Steve Nikas and his wife also testified for the State in that trial.

Q. And what was the nature of their testimony?

MR. ROBERTS: I object to this, your Honor, as being hearsay and immaterial.

MR. ASHTON: They have never been witnesses in this case, Steve Nikas or his wife.”

There does not seem to be any question but what this was hearsay and immaterial as neither Steve Nikas nor his wife were witnesses in this proceeding, and an attempt here to have the defendant relate matters to which they testified at a Liquor Control Commission proceeding is manifestly immaterial and hearsay and the court very properly sustained the State’s objection to this question.

Appellant assigns as error No. 16, the court’s sustaining of the State’s objection to the question, “Mr. Lack, will you now please tell the jury the story of the burglary in your pharmacy.” This question was the first question asked of Mr. Lack by defendant’s counsel on cross examination. The State had made no reference



whatever to any burglary on direct examination. There was no foundation laid for such a question and it was wholly outside the scope of the direct examination. There was no error in sustaining the State's objection to this question.

## PROPOSITION IV

### THE COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY.

Defendant assigns as error the refusal of the court to give certain requested instructions (Assignments of Error No. 37, 38 and 39).

Under assignment of error No. 37, defendant argues that the court committed error in refusing to give the last paragraph of defendant's requested instruction No. 1, stated as follows:

“And you are further instructed in this case that the statements or admissions of the defendant, the accused, are not sufficient with the testimony of an accomplice alone to warrant a conviction.” (Tr. 33)

In its instruction No. 5, the court charged the Jury as follows:

“ \* \* \* and you are instructed that under the law a conviction cannot be had on the testimony of an accomplice unless he is corroborated by other evidence which in itself and without the aid of the accomplice tends to connect the defendant with the commission of the offense \* \* \*.” (Tr. 43)

We believe that the portion of instruction No. 5 quoted above, together with the remainder of that instruction, sufficiently covers the law involved in defendant's re-

requested instruction No. 1 and that, therefore, there is no error in refusing to give defendant's requested instruction No. 1 verbatim. We take the rule to be that when members of the jury are fully and fairly instructed upon a subject, it is not error for the trial court to refuse defendant's proposed instructions which are merely repetitious of the law in the instructions as given. *People vs. Parchen* 98 Pac. (2d) 1045, 37 Cal. App. (2d) 215. The Utah court has followed this rule, stating that the trial court is not required to instruct in the same language as requested but should give a proper charge on the subject in its own language. *State vs. Rosenberg*, 35 Pac. (2d) 1004, 84 U. 402.

Defendant assigns as error (Assignment of Error No. 38) refusal of the court to give his requested instruction No. 2. (Tr. 34) Without quoting the instruction as requested, or the instruction as given, we respectfully submit that the court covered the law properly in its instruction No. 3 (Tr. 41) and instruction No. 6 (Tr. 44) and there was therefore no error in refusing to give the instruction as requested. *State vs. Rosenberg*, *supra*.

Defendant assigns further as error (Assignment of Error No. 39) refusal of the court to give defendant's requested instruction No. 6 (Tr. 38). This alleged error is not argued in defendant's brief, and we quite frankly are at a loss to determine wherein refusal to give said requested instruction constitutes error. That is, we fail completely to see any connection between the statute as cited in the said instruction No. 6 with the charge of bribery as set forth in the indictment and presented at the trial. It may well have been error for the court to give such instruction; we see no error in the court's



refusing to do so.

We respectfully submit that defendant's assignment of error No. 40 does not present an issue to this court. The exception is quoted as follows :

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